



Wichmann, O; Vannice, K; Asturias, EJ; de Albuquerque Luna, EJ; Longini, I; Lopez, AL; Smith, PG; Tissera, H; Yoon, IK; Hombach, J (2017) Live-attenuated tetravalent dengue vaccines: The needs and challenges of post-licensure evaluation of vaccine safety and effectiveness. Vaccine. ISSN 0264-410X DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.08.066

Downloaded from: http://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/4363545/

DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.08.066

Usage Guidelines

 $Please \ refer \ to \ usage \ guidelines \ at \ http://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/policies.html \ or \ alternatively \ contact \ researchonline@lshtm.ac.uk.$ 

Available under license: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/2.5/

## Vaccine 35 (2017) 5535-5542



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Vaccine



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/vaccine

# Review

# Live-attenuated tetravalent dengue vaccines: The needs and challenges of post-licensure evaluation of vaccine safety and effectiveness



Ole Wichmann<sup>a,b</sup>, Kirsten Vannice<sup>a</sup>, Edwin J. Asturias<sup>c,d</sup>, Expedito José de Albuquerque Luna<sup>e</sup>, Ira Longini<sup>f</sup>, Anna Lena Lopez<sup>g</sup>, Peter G. Smith<sup>h</sup>, Hasitha Tissera<sup>i</sup>, In-Kyu Yoon<sup>j</sup>, Joachim Hombach<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> World Health Organization, Department of Immunizations, Vaccines and Biologicals, Geneva, Switzerland

<sup>f</sup> University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States

<sup>g</sup> University of the Philippines Manila – National Institutes of Health, Manila, Philippines

h MRC Tropical Epidemiology Group, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom

<sup>i</sup> National Dengue Control Unit, Ministry of Health, Colombo, Sri Lanka

<sup>j</sup> International Vaccine Institute, Seoul, South Korea

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 May 2017 Received in revised form 18 August 2017 Accepted 24 August 2017

Keywords: Dengue Vaccine Evaluation Post-licensure Adverse events Safety Surveillance

# ABSTRACT

Since December 2015, the first dengue vaccine has been licensed in several Asian and Latin American countries for protection against disease from all four dengue virus serotypes. While the vaccine demonstrated an overall good safety and efficacy profile in clinical trials, some key research questions remain which make risk-benefit-assessment for some populations difficult. As for any new vaccine, several questions, such as very rare adverse events following immunization, duration of vaccine-induced protection and effectiveness when used in public health programs, will be addressed by post-licensure studies and by data from national surveillance systems after the vaccine has been introduced. However, the complexity of dengue epidemiology, pathogenesis and population immunity, as well as some characteristics of the currently licensed vaccine, and potentially also future, live-attenuated dengue vaccines, poses a challenge for evaluation through existing monitoring systems, especially in low and middle-income countries. Most notable are the different efficacies of the currently licensed vaccine by dengue serostatus at time of first vaccination and by dengue virus serotype, as well as the increased risk of dengue hospitalization among young vaccinated children observed three years after the start of vaccination in one of the trials. Currently, it is unknown if the last phenomenon is restricted to younger ages or could affect also seronegative individuals aged 9 years and older, who are included in the group for whom the vaccine has been licensed. In this paper, we summarize scientific and methodological considerations for public health surveillance and targeted post-licensure studies to address some key research questions related to liveattenuated dengue vaccines. Countries intending to introduce a dengue vaccine should assess their capacities to monitor and evaluate the vaccine's effectiveness and safety and, where appropriate and possible, enhance their surveillance systems accordingly. Targeted studies are needed, especially to better understand the effects of vaccinating seronegative individuals.

© 2017 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

# Contents

1.	Introduction	5536
2.	Key findings from phase 3 studies	5537
3.	Key research questions for the licensed vaccine	5537
4.	Methodological challenges when addressing implementation and research questions	5538

\* Corresponding author at: Department of Immunizations, Vaccines and Biologicals, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland. *E-mail address*: hombachj@who.int (J. Hombach).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.08.066 0264-410X/© 2017 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Robert Koch Institute, Berlin, Germany

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Colorado School of Public Health, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup> Universidade de São Paulo, Instituto de Medicina Tropical de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

5.	Post-licensure surveillance of vaccine effectiveness and safety	5540
6.	Targeted studies to assess vaccine effectiveness and safety	5540
7.	Conclusion	5541
	Acknowledgements	5541
	Conflict of interest.	5541
	References	5541

# 1. Introduction

With an estimated 96 million clinically apparent infections every year, dengue is the most common mosquito-borne viral disease globally [1]. The highest disease burden is now found in Asia and Latin America with expanding geographic distribution and cocirculation of multiple dengue virus (DENV) serotypes [2]. Four antigenically distinct serotypes (DENV1-4) are recognized and infection with one is generally believed to confer life-long immunity to that serotype (homotypic protection) while crossimmunity to other serotypes (heterotypic protection) persists for one or two years [3,4].

Most DENV-infections are asymptomatic or cause a mild illness, but a small proportion of cases develop severe disease manifested as plasma leakage, bleeding or severe organ involvement. For example, in two large phase 3 trials of the now licensed dengue vaccine carried out in 10 endemic countries, about 10,000 unvaccinated children aged 2-16 years served as controls. Among these children there were 708 virologically-confirmed dengue infections identified in the first 2 years of follow-up (2.9 and 4.6 episodes per 100 person-years in Latin America and Southeast Asia, respectively), of which 30 (4%) were classified as dengue haemorrhagic fever, including 2 (0.3%) with dengue shock syndrome [10]. Multiple epidemiological studies have shown that the risk of developing severe disease is higher after a heterotypic second DENV-infection (estimated 0.5-2%) as compared to the risk following primary infection [5–7]. Antibody-dependent enhancement of infection has been proposed as a possible underlying mechanism [8,9]. The determinants of severe disease include viral as well as human host factors, such as age and ethnicity [8].

Starting in December 2015, the first dengue vaccine (Dengvaxia<sup>®</sup>, Sanofi-Pasteur) was granted market authorization in several countries in Asia and Latin America. This vaccine is a tetravalent, recombinant, live-attenuated vaccine with a yellow fever 17D vaccine virus backbone, administered in a 3-dose schedule at 6-month intervals. The vaccine has been licensed for individuals aged 9–45 years living in dengue endemic areas, although both upper and lower age limit might vary by license. This vaccine is not intended as a routine vaccination for travellers [11]. Currently, the vaccine is mainly

available to the private market, but it has been introduced in subnational public sector programs in Brazil and the Philippines [12]. Two other tetravalent live recombinant vaccines, TV003/TV005 and TDV, are undergoing phase 3 trials (Table 1).

In July 2016, based on recommendations of the Scientific Advisory Group of Experts (SAGE) on Immunization, the World Health Organization (WHO) published a position paper providing guidance for the use of Dengvaxia<sup>®</sup> [13]. WHO recommends that countries should consider introduction of the vaccine only in geographic settings (national or subnational) where epidemiological data indicate persistent and high intensity of transmission. Prior infection with DENV of any serotype, as measured by seroprevalence, should ideally be 70% or greater in the age-group targeted for vaccination to maximize public health impact and costeffectiveness [14]. The main reason for this recommendation is the differential performance of Dengvaxia<sup>®</sup> by dengue serostatus at the time of first vaccination, in terms of vaccine efficacy, and possibly safety [13]. Details of the trial results informing the WHO position are summarized below.

As for any new vaccine, some questions remain unanswered at the time of licensure, which can only be studied once the vaccine is widely used in the population. Accordingly, concerted postlicensure evaluation of a new vaccine will be conducted by the manufacturer according to a risk management plan (RMP), and should also be planned by public health authorities that include the vaccine in their national or subnational immunization program. However, the complexity of dengue epidemiology, pathogenesis and population immunity, as well as some characteristics of the currently licensed dengue vaccine, pose considerable challenges as some research questions cannot be answered simply through using routine surveillance systems and require either enhanced (active) surveillance activities or targeted studies. Foreseeing the need for enhanced country surveillance and targeted studies, considerations for post-licensure evaluation of liveattenuated dengue vaccines have been previously published [15-18]. In light of the results of the phase 3 clinical trials and the WHO/SAGE recommendations, it is appropriate now to refine and prioritize the needs for post-licensure data. Building upon these previous considerations, the background paper of the SAGE work-

#### Table 1

Dengue vaccine candidates in clinical development (as of August 2017).

Candidate vaccine name	Manufacturer/ Developer	Vaccine type/platform	Antigen	Adjuvant	Most advanced trial phase
CYD-TDV (Dengvaxia <sup>®</sup> )	Sanofi Pasteur	Live, recombinant (based on a yellow fever vaccine 17D backbone)	DENV-1-4 prM/E	None	Licensed
TV003 TV005	Butantan Institute	Live, attenuated and recombinant (DENV-2 in DENV-4 backbone)	DENV-1,3,4 whole genome, DENV-2 prM/E	None	Phase III
TDV (also referred to as TAK-003)	Takeda	Live, attenuated and recombinant (DENV-1/3/4 in DENV-2 backbone)	DENV-2 whole genome, DENV-1,3,4 prM/E	None	Phase III
TDENV-PIV	GSK/WRAIR/ Fiocruz	Inactivated	DENV-1-4 whole genome	AS03	Phase II
TDENV-LAV + TDENV-PIV	WRAIR	Live, attenuated and inactivated (heterologous prime-boost)	DENV-1-4 whole genome	Alum (with PIV)	Phase I
V180	Merck	Recombinant subunit (non-VLP)	DENV-1-4 E protein	ISCOMATRIX	Phase I
TVDV	NMRC	DNA	DENV-1-4 prM/E	Vaxfectin	Phase I

\* Sources: World Health Organization (WHO) Global Observatory on Health R&D http://www.who.int/research-observatory/monitoring/processes/health\_products/en/ and WHO vaccine pipeline tracker http://www.who.int/immunization/research/vaccine\_pipeline\_tracker\_spreadsheet/en/. ing group on dengue vaccines [19], and discussions during a meeting on "Targeting vaccination and post-licensure studies for the licensed dengue vaccine" organized by WHO in June 2016 [20], we summarize the current scientific background and highlight important post-licensure studies that are feasible for early introducer countries to perform, as well as critical targeted studies that can best be addressed in special research contexts. Secondgeneration tetravalent live-attenuated dengue vaccines may have different characteristics to the currently licensed vaccine, but the surveillance activities and studies we propose are likely to be relevant for the post-licensure evaluation of future live-attenuated and, possibly, non-live dengue vaccines. We will not discuss the studies that are needed to inform vaccine introduction decisions.

### 2. Key findings from phase 3 studies

Dengyaxia<sup>®</sup> has been evaluated in two parallel phase 3 trials in 5 countries in Asia (trial CYD14) and 5 countries in Latin America (trial CYD15) [21,22]. The trial in Asia included 10,275 participants aged 2-14 years and the trial in Latin America 20,869 participants aged 9-16 years. There was a random assignment, in a 2:1 ratio, to the vaccine or the control group. Both trials included active surveillance for dengue for 25 months after the first dose for the primary efficacy endpoint (virologically-confirmed dengue disease) and hospital-based surveillance for a further 4 years for additional safety evaluation. In the hospital-based follow-up period, which is ongoing, the incidence of hospitalization for dengue was monitored to evaluate any potential predisposition in vaccinated persons to more severe disease [23]. Serostatus at baseline was assessed in a subset of trial participants (1983 and 1944 participants in CYD14 and CYD15, respectively). The proportion of children having pre-vaccination antibodies against at least one DENV-serotype increased with age [19] and, among participants aged 9 years or older, was approximately 80% in both trials [21,22].

Based on pooled results from both trials, 3-dose vaccine efficacy across all age-groups in the 25 months after the first dose was 60.3% (95% CI, 55.7–64.5) [23]. Efficacy varied by infecting serotype (higher for DENV-3 and -4), age at time of first dose (65.6% and 44.6% in children aged 9–16 and <9 years, respectively), and was higher for protection against more severe disease (80.8% against dengue hospitalization and 93.2% against severe dengue in children aged 9–16 years) [23]. Independent of age, vaccine efficacy was higher among vaccinees who were dengue seropositive than among those who were seronegative at baseline (70.1%; 95%CI 32.3-87.3 vs. 14.4%; 95%CI -111-63.5 in children aged <9 years, and 81.9%; 95%CI 67.2-90.0 vs. 52.5%; 95%CI 5.9-76.1 in those aged 9–16 years) [23]. There are currently no data on the efficacy of the vaccine against the primary endpoint beyond 25 months after the first vaccine dose, as in this period surveillance was limited to hospitalized cases only. Some data are expected to become available as, later in the trials, active surveillance for the primary endpoint was reinstated [23]. In children  $\geq 9$  years, the relative risk of hospitalized dengue, in the period 2 or more years after trial entry, was lower in the vaccinated group, but moved closer to unity as time progressed, suggesting waning protection within a few years post-vaccination [19].

With respect to vaccine safety, the incidence of severe adverse events following immunization (AEFI) was similar in the vaccine and the control group [24]. Since Dengvaxia<sup>®</sup> is a chimeric vaccine using the yellow fever 17D strain virus as backbone, there was a hypothetical risk of yellow fever vaccine-associated viscerotropic or neurotropic disease [18]. No such adverse reactions were observed during the trials, but the studies lacked sufficient power to exclude risks below 0.1%.

In the 3rd year after the first dose, an interim safety analysis demonstrated a relative risk (RR) of hospitalization for dengue of 0.50 (95% CI, 0.29–0.86), compared to the control group, among those aged 9 years or older at first vaccination. However, in those first vaccinated aged 2–5 years there was a significant excess of dengue hospitalization in the vaccinated group (RR = 7.45; 95%CI 1.15–313.80). This was also the age-group with the lowest pre-vaccination seroprevalence (51%) [21,23]. Among children hospitalized for dengue <9 years of age, there were 12 cases of severe dengue in the vaccine group and none in the control group; no deaths occurred [23]. No difference was observed in the level of viremia and cytokine profile of those vaccinated compared to controls [23].

Since the pre-vaccination serostatus was assessed only in a subset of participants, and the proportion of seronegatives in children aged 9 years and older was small, stratified analysis of the risk for dengue hospitalization or severe dengue by serostatus was not informative. It remains unknown if the differential vaccine performance is related to age, serostatus, or both factors. Several interrelated biologic hypotheses have been discussed [19,23,25,26]. Since the efficacy of Dengvaxia® is moderate, breakthrough infection, including severe disease, occur. One hypothesis for the excess of dengue hospitalization in younger vaccinees is that, in seronegatives, Dengvaxia<sup>®</sup> mimics a (first) silent primary monovalent or bivalent infection and when heterologous cross-protection wanes, the first wild-type infection acts like a second infection, leading to more severe disease [8,27]. Younger children may be more susceptible to this phenomenon as this group includes a high proportion of subjects who are dengue seronegative. Their immature immune responses to the vaccine may induce antibodies with less affinity, and their vascular physiology is more prone to plasma leakage [19,23]. Since second infections after a natural primary infection can also lead to enhanced disease, the question remains why the risk was significantly higher and not equal in the group of young vaccinees as compared to the control group. This could be explained by the condensed enrolment period in the trial that clustered these children to a first "dengue-like" (vaccine) exposure compared to unvaccinated controls, who would be primed naturally over a longer period [19.23]. The risk for dengue hospitalization among vaccinated participants compared to controls in children first vaccinated aged 2-5 years diminished in the 4th and 5th year of the trial and was not statistically significant (RR = 1.42, 95%CI 0.58-3.99 and RR = 1.50, 95%CI 0.27-15.15, respectively). Although, in the total follow-up period from first vaccine dose an excess risk of hospitalized dengue in children first vaccinated aged 2-5 years was observed, this was not statistically significant (RR = 1.26, 95%CI 0.76-2.13) [19].

An alternative explanation for the findings among young children is that the observed breakthrough infections leading to hospitalization were not analogous to secondary-like infection, but just primary infection following a complete waning of homoor heterotypic protection or a primary vaccine failure. Since the numbers were small, it cannot be excluded that the apparent increase in risk of hospitalizations in the third year for age-group 2–5 years is just a chance, i.e. type II, statistical error. Nonetheless, this increased risk of dengue hospitalization detected in children <9 years in the third year in one of the clinical trials ultimately led to the current vaccine indication for a minimum start age of 9 years.

#### 3. Key research questions for the licensed vaccine

The manufacturer of Dengvaxia<sup>®</sup> has developed a RMP, which includes long-term monitoring of ongoing efficacy trials, postmarketing pharmacovigilance and safety studies (e.g. background rates of conditions that can mimic viscerotropism and neurotropism, cohort event monitoring, pregnancy register), effectiveness (e.g. community-based studies to evaluate impact on disease transmission, facility-based studies to evaluate impact on hospitalBox 1 Outstanding research questions related to live-attenuated tetravalent dengue vaccines.

### Safety-related questions

- 1. Is there a risk of enhanced disease associated with the currently licensed vaccine? And if there is a risk of vaccineassociated enhanced disease:
  - 1.1. What determines the risk (e.g. serostatus, age at time of vaccination, or other factors)?
  - 1.2. Is the risk conferred by the vaccine similar to that conferred by natural infection?
  - 1.3. How does it relate to the number of doses received?
  - 1.4. Does waning of vaccine-induced immunity contribute to any risk and does any risk increase with time since vaccination? Does a booster vaccination mitigate the risk?
  - 1.5. Does immunity to other flaviviruses (induced either by natural infection or vaccination) modify any such risk?
- 2. What is the incidence of rare severe adverse events (esp. acute viscerotropic or neurotropic disease) and post-vaccination dengue-like illness caused by vaccine viremia?
- 3. Is the vaccine safe in special risk groups, e.g. immunocompromised subjects and pregnant/lactating women?

# Effectiveness and impact-related questions

- 4. What are the effects of vaccination when the vaccine is included in a public program? In particular:
  - 4.1. What is the overall effect (direct and indirect protection) on the incidence of dengue and hospitalized/severe dengue in the population?
  - 4.2. Does vaccination reduce dengue transmission?
  - 4.3. What is the program impact on the dengue serotype distribution in the area?
  - 4.4. What is the effect on the epidemiology of other flaviviruses
- 5. What is the vaccine effectiveness under field conditions? In particular, are there differences in the vaccine effectiveness
  - 5.1. against asymptomatic and symptomatic dengue?
  - 5.2. by number of doses, age at vaccination (esp. adults) and serotype? This includes the question if fewer than three doses are needed in any individuals (e.g. in those with pre-existing immunity)?
  - 5.3. by time since vaccination (duration of protection)
  - 5.4. by immune status in respect to other flaviviruses (e.g. yellow fever, Japanese encephalitis and Zika virus)?

#### Methodological questions

- 6. Can the serostatus at time of vaccination be retrospectively deduced with diagnostic tests, including in patients with postvaccination dengue virus infection?
- 7. In a country with limited resources, what are appropriate study designs to assess dengue vaccine effectiveness?
- 8. Can methods be devised to distinguish if, in a vaccinated patient with a severe breakthrough infection, the disease was enhanced by the vaccine or developed independently from the vaccine?

ization and severe dengue, and monitoring of potential waning immunity) and additional clinical studies (booster studies, administration to clinical stable HIV+ subjects and co-administration with human papilloma and tetanus-diphtheria-pertussis vaccines) [19].

While comprehensive, this RMP does not seem to address directly the observed vaccine effect in seronegative individuals. In addition, manufacturer-independent studies will be valuable, particularly to assess the effectiveness and safety of the vaccine in large public-funded programs. Key research questions related to live-attenuated tetravalent dengue vaccines, along with activities planned by the manufacturer, are summarized in Box 1. Targeted studies will be needed to answer some, while others could be evaluated through establishing enhanced (active) surveillance activities in selected health facilities or strengthening routine monitoring systems in countries introducing the vaccine in their public immunization program. These research questions aim to fill gaps deemed important for country-level policy-making. Most of the research questions can be grouped into one of the three main areas (Box 1). First, what are the effects of vaccination when the dengue vaccine is included in a public program? Second, what is the vaccine effectiveness under field conditions? And third, does vaccination of seronegative individuals increase the risk for hospitalized or severe dengue? If so, is the risk modified by waning immunity or incomplete vaccination and what is the populationlevel impact? Mathematical modelling based on the hypothesis of secondary-type breakthrough infections suggests the vaccine might increase the overall incidence of more severe dengue in settings with low virus transmission (i.e. where the risk of two or more DENV-infections is low) [14,18].

We propose key research questions that are relevant for an extended risk-benefit-assessment. Out of the scope of this paper are additional research questions related to dengue vaccines that are relevant and warrant investments. For example, which biomarker(s) can serve as immune correlates of protection or disease enhancement, and do immunological effector mechanisms contribute to clinical protection.

# 4. Methodological challenges when addressing implementation and research questions

There are several methodological challenges to address these key research questions. First, routine disease surveillance systems mainly provide population-based data to compare disease incidences before and after vaccine introduction to assess the impact of a vaccination program. Based on mainly routine reporting systems, these data are limited by case ascertainment definitions, diagnostic accuracy, heterogeneous outcome and severity criteria, and variable surveillance and reporting intensity. Several studies have shown substantial underreporting in routine surveillance systems [28,29], but as long as the level of underreporting is constant this has little impact on trend analyses. Still, any impact of vaccination might not be detectable at population-level when only a small fraction is vaccinated, when vaccination coverage is suboptimal or if vaccine efficacy is only moderate. Also, natural year-to-year variations in dengue incidence and serotype distribution are substantial and challenge the interpretation of temporal changes in surveillance data.

# Table 2

Post-licensure study designs and settings to address key research questions.

Research question	Setting	Options for study design	Comment	
Safety-related questions Risk of severe dengue by serostatus at vaccination, age-group 9 years and older	Targeted study	Prospective cohort study with serostatus determined pre-vaccination or stored pre- vaccination sera	Large sample size required; oversampling of ser naïve participants in high transmission settings Other questions can be addressed in such study e.g. effect of immunity to other flaviviruses Currently no test is validated for this purpose	
	(Enhanced hospital- based sentinel surveillance)	Case-control study, if a valid test to retrospectively identify serostatus at time of vaccination is available. Compare severe cases with non-severe cases		
Risk of severe dengue by age at vaccination, number of doses, time since vaccination	Enhanced hospital- based sentinel surveillance	Case-control study. Compare proportion vaccinated among severe cases vs. non-severe cases, with stratifications by risk factors under consideration	Cohort studies not suitable, since they would require a very large sample size, off-label use, or long study period. Limitation: Cannot adjust for serostatus at time of vaccination	
Risk of rare severe adverse events, esp. acute viscerotropic / neurotropic disease & post- vaccination dengue-like illness	Routine national adverse events following immunization (AEFI) surveillance	Observed vs. expected analyses	Expected background rates viscerotropism and neurotropism and conditions that can mimic then need to be established (part of the manufacturer' RMP)	
Vaccine safety in special risk groups, e.g. immunocompromised subjects and pregnant/lactating women	Routine national adverse events following immunization (AEFI) surveillance	Observed vs. expected analyses. Comparison of outcomes in the risk group vs. non-risk group	Need to include the information of belonging to special risk groups as a variable for reporting. Ris of bias in retrospective assessments/passive surveillance	
	Targeted studies	Randomized controlled trial for selected groups, e.g. HIV + patients. (Register-based) cohort studies, e.g. pregnancy exposure registry. Comparisons of exposed vs. non-exposed individuals belonging to the risk group; or comparisons of outcome incidences in the risk group vs. non-risk group or published reference rates	Registries need to be established (part of the manufacturer's RMP)	
Effectiveness and impact-related questi				
Program impact on disease incidence, impact on virus transmission	Routine disease surveillance system (passive surveillance)	National passive disease surveillance, with before-after analysis, using appropriate statistical methods	Need for standardized surveillance protocol, laboratory confirmation of at least a proportion of cases, inclusion of all age-groups. Need to be established before vaccine introduction. Analysis must consider seasonality and annual fluctuation in disease rates	
	Enhanced hospital- based sentinel surveillance	Enhanced surveillance with before-after analysis, using appropriate statistical methods	Need to be established before vaccine introductio	
	Targeted study	Studies assessing the risk of dengue in unvaccinated persons in populations with high vaccine coverage. Household studies and studies of the prevalence of infected mosquitoes in setting with varying level of vaccine uptake, including before and after		
Program impact on serotype distribution Vaccine effectiveness by age at	Laboratory-based surveillance Enhanced facility-	vaccine introduction Blood samples collected in outpatient clinics and hospitals to be send to reference laboratory Test-negative case-control design (TND) with testification laboration of the second secon	Reference laboratory for serotyping and genotyping to be identified or established Limitation: Cannot adjust for serostatus at time of provide the comparison of the serostatus at time of the serostatus at the s	
vaccination, serotype, number of vaccine doses	based sentinel surveillance	stratification by risk factors under consideration	vaccination. TND not yet validated for the assessment of dengue vaccine effectiveness, for the time being this design should be conducted i parallel to traditional case-control studies	
Vaccine effectiveness by dengue serostatus. Effect of immunity to other flaviviruses on dengue vaccine-induced protection	Targeted study	Prospective cohort study with serostatus determined pre-vaccination	Sample size will probably limit the analysis of important co-variates (e.g. age at vaccination, serotype)	
Duration of vaccine-induced protection protection	Enhanced hospital- based sentinel surveillance	Test-negative case-control design (TND) with stratification of vaccine effectiveness estimates by time since vaccination	Limitation: Cannot adjust for serostatus at time of vaccination. TND not yet validated for the assessment of dengue vaccine effectiveness, for the time being this design should be conducted in parallel to traditional case-control studies.	
	Targeted study	Prospective cohort study to explore impact of pre-vaccination serostatus on duration of vaccine-induced protection	Long-term follow-up with active surveillance for mild/severe dengue required. Sample size will probably limit the analysis of important covariate (e.g. age at vaccination, serotype, pre-vaccination serostatus)	

Second, for safety, spontaneous AEFI reporting systems are generally designed to ascertain events relatively close to the time of vaccination and not to evaluate an increased risk of more severe dengue if this occurs years after the vaccination, depending on the intensity of exposure in the population and waning immunity [30]. Every severe or hospitalized dengue infection in a vaccinated person would, in theory, require reporting to the AEFI system and trigger further investigations. However, there is currently no diagnostic tool that distinguishes enhanced disease potentially associated with the vaccine from that post-natural infection.

Third, in many countries there are no capacities to link information routinely from existing databases (e.g. disease surveillance, vaccination registries, and AEFI surveillance) because of the lack of trained personal and systematic databases. Many immunization information systems are still paper-based, and in many countries patients also attend private clinics or hospitals that are not connected to immunization and surveillance systems.

Fourth, there is no diagnostic test currently able to distinguish the pre-vaccination serostatus of a dengue-vaccinated individual retrospectively, and routinely assessing this before vaccination is not currently considered feasible in large-scale routine vaccination programs. However, when monitoring vaccine safety within the public surveillance systems or targeted post-licensure studies, knowledge of serostatus at the time of vaccination will be important. This would help determining if an association between prevaccination serostatus and post-vaccination enhanced risk of severe disease exist, as well as determining the duration of vaccine-induced protection in pre-vaccination seronegative vs. seropositive individuals.

Fifth, prospective cohort studies with baseline testing for dengue-specific and other flavivirus antibodies are needed. However, such studies would need to be large and include a sufficient number of dengue-naïve participants, and participants would have to be followed up for multiple years to assess duration of vaccineinduced protection and any risk of enhanced disease that might not be manifest for several years.

Finally, overall vaccine effectiveness may vary by population and its ecology (transmission intensities, serotype distribution, pre-existing immunity). Boosting effects from exposure to circulating wild-type DENV and other flaviviruses as well as other flavivirus vaccines (e.g. Japanese encephalitis, yellow fever) may affect the duration of vaccine-induced protection. Therefore, studies from multiple sites with different ecologies and population distributions will be needed.

# 5. Post-licensure surveillance of vaccine effectiveness and safety

As for any other vaccine introduced in national or subnational immunization programs, surveillance systems should be in place and appropriate to assess if the dengue vaccine's benefits are sufficient to outweigh any risks in the population. Principles that should also be applied for dengue vaccines but might require some strengthening of recording systems include:

- a. *Documentation of administered vaccines:* Vaccine coverage monitoring at population-level is important not only to measure immunization program performance and accountability, but to enable the interpretation of vaccine impact and safety. To assess questions on duration of vaccine-induced protection and effectiveness of incomplete vaccination schedules and their potential effect on disease severity during breakthrough infections, individual-level data on dates and number of administered vaccine doses is crucial. National or subnational electronic registries would facilitate vaccination status ascertainment and individualized followup as well as linkage to surveillance data.
- b. Disease surveillance: Every country considering dengue vaccine introduction should consider collecting disease surveillance data before and after vaccine introduction to aid assessment of vaccination impact at population-level.

However, high-quality surveillance is needed for this purpose. Surveillance must be based on internationallyaccepted case definitions with classifications into probable and laboratory-confirmed cases, include ideally all agegroups as well as case-based information on age, location, times, laboratory confirmation and disease severity including death. With the emergence of epidemics of other arboviruses such as Zika and Chikungunya, the syndromic approach that is being used in many countries for dengue diagnosis has lost most of its validity. Despite the abovedescribed challenges in interpreting surveillance data, this might constitute the only source to estimate vaccine impact in countries that lack sufficient resources to implement enhanced sentinel-surveillance or targeted studies. However, vaccine introduction may be an incentive to strengthen surveillance systems to better define the local dengue epidemiology as dengue becomes a vaccine preventable disease. Several studies have demonstrated that enhancements in laboratory, sentinel-based surveillance, and trained and motivated personnel contributed to improvements in dengue case reporting [28].

- c. AEFI surveillance: Spontaneous reporting of AEFI is important to identify rare or unexpected adverse events potentially associated with vaccination. Outcomes like viscerotropic or neurotropic disease and hospitalizations for dengue-like illness should be reported and linked to immunization records. The manufacturer's RMP includes the assessment of background rates of conditions that can mimic viscerotropic or neurotropic disease to evaluate changes in their rates following vaccine introduction [19]. Attempts should be made to address the possible risk of vaccine-associated enhanced disease in hospital-based sentinel-surveillance systems [18].
- d. *Virological surveillance:* Routine monitoring of circulating DENV sero- and genotypes is important to assess if there is any effect on the serotype mixture [31]. Where possible, DENV derived from post-vaccination cases should be sequenced. In addition, the circulation of vaccine-derived strains should, if possible, also be monitored, but seems unlikely to occur [32,33].

#### 6. Targeted studies to assess vaccine effectiveness and safety

Post-licensure studies to address key research questions are listed in Table 2. As highlighted in the table, the availability of a diagnostic test that can retrospectively identify in a denguevaccinated patient their pre-vaccination serostatus would greatly facilitate addressing several research questions. It has been suggested that the presence of anti-DENV envelope IgG in the absence of dengue NS1 IgG antibodies in late convalescent sera, characterizes a first DENV infection on a background of Dengvaxia<sup>®</sup> yellow fever vaccine-derived immunity in a dengue seronegative person at baseline [25]. However, these tests are not commercially available and not yet validated for this purpose.

The test-negative design (TND) has been proposed for postlicensure assessment of vaccine effectiveness. This case-control design is an efficient and relatively inexpensive epidemiologic method that can easily be embedded in a surveillance program where patients are recruited prospectively through participating ambulatory care clinics or hospitals [34]. The TND has been extensively applied for the evaluation of several vaccines (e.g. influenza and rotavirus) [34–36], and could also be used to monitor dengue vaccine performance after introduction, by comparing the vaccination status of persons presenting with febrile illness, who are shown to either have or not have dengue. Other methods can be applied which utilize cases ascertained in active sentinel surveillance systems. For example, traditional case-control, case-coverage or case-cohort analyses. The TND offers advantage over traditional case-control designs by reducing the possibility of differential health-care-seeking behaviors among cases and non-cases [34]. However, the TND's validity has not been fully explored in vector-borne infections like dengue. Such validation is a priority.

There are a small number of study methodologies and settings through which key research questions can be addressed (Table 2).

(a) Studies that can be performed within the context of a public health program

These include enhanced facility- or hospital-based surveillance studies which should be considered by early introducer countries to demonstrate the benefits and risks of dengue vaccination in their population. These studies can be implemented in sentinel hospitals with good diagnostic capacities (dengue PCR and NS1 antigen test) for at least 5 years following vaccine introduction. The impact on dengue hospitalizations can be measured, vaccine effectiveness against dengue hospitalization and duration of protection can be assessed using the TND method, and long-term safety can be evaluated through case-control studies. Such studies might examine risk factors for severe disease, including vaccination timing and age.

(b) Studies that require special capacities and resources

Due to the limitations of existing surveillance systems and diagnostic tools, there is a need for targeted studies conducted in selected settings. These include:

- Prospective cohort studies with assessment of the serostatus prior to vaccination and, if possible, periodically thereafter, to evaluate any relation between antibody levels and vaccine effectiveness and safety and monitor for waning immunity or boosting by asymptomatic DENV infections. Additional research questions can be potentially addressed in such prospective studies, such as the impact of immunity to other flaviviruses (e.g. Japanese encephalitis or Zika virus) on effectiveness and safety outcomes, the validity of future assays that can retrospectively distinguish the dengue serostatus at time of vaccination, or better correlates of protection and biomarkers for the risk of severe disease as well as the role of T cell immunity.
- Studies that measure any impact on virus transmission would also be valuable. For example, assessing whether the risk of dengue is reduced in unvaccinated persons in populations with high vaccine coverage.
- More advanced study designs, such as vaccine introduction using a stepped-wedge design or cluster randomized controlled trials, would provide an opportunity to measure indirect vaccine effects and overall effectiveness. However, such designs are complex and require substantial resources.

#### 7. Conclusion

As the first live-attenuated dengue vaccines are introduced in larger populations, several unresolved research questions related to their performance need to be answered. While some are common to all vaccines due to the limited number of participants in pre-licensure clinical development programs, others arose from phase 3 studies that unveiled the complexity of dengue as a preventable vector-borne infection. The current manufacturers' RMP contains a list of activities, including the extension of follow up

of participants in the phase 3 trials, which will help to address some of these key research questions. However, as countries introduce the vaccine, they are strongly encouraged to conduct their own post-licensure monitoring and evaluation, which requires planning and potentially strengthening vaccine surveillance and immunization registry systems. Capacities for disease detection, reporting and the assessment of long-term safety need reinforcement, for example, though hospital-based sentinel surveillance. Development and validation of suitable study methods, such as TND, as well as diagnostic tools to retrospectively identify the pre-vaccination serostatus are priorities. One important question for vaccine introduction remaining to be answered and likely will not be tackled by traditional or enhanced surveillance is the effects of vaccinating seronegative individuals, both over time and with respect to age. Targeted studies are needed on this. All entities that collect data on vaccine effectiveness and safety are encouraged to share with the scientific and public community information on the methods and the results generated through these activities to improve informed decision-making at the individual and population level.

## Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank all participants for their valuable input during the consultation "Targeting vaccination and postlicensure studies for the licensed dengue vaccine" organized by the World Health Organization in June 2016.

OW and KV (at the time of writing this paper), and JH are staff members of the World Health Organization. The authors alone are responsible for the views expressed in this publication and they do not necessarily represent the decisions or policies of the World Health Organization.

# **Conflict of interest**

OW, KV, ALL, HT and JH declare no conflicts of interest. EJA has received research grants from Takeda Vaccines Inc. and Glaxo-Smith Kline. EJAL has received research grants and travel expenses from Sanofi Pasteur, and has also been an employee of Institute Butantan. IML worked on a project that was partially funded by Sanofi Pasteur. PGS is a member of the Independent Data and Monitoring Committee for the trials of the Sanofi Pasteur dengue vaccine. IKY is the director of the Global Dengue and Aedestransmitted Diseases Consortium (GDAC) which has received unrestricted grants from Sanofi Pasteur and Takeda Vaccines Inc.

#### References

- Bhatt S, Gething PW, Brady OJ, Messina JP, Farlow AW, Moyes CL, et al. The global distribution and burden of dengue. Nature 2013;496:504–7.
- [2] Messina JP, Brady OJ, Scott TW, Zou C, Pigott DM, Duda KA, et al. Global spread of dengue virus types: mapping the 70 year history. Trends Microbiol 2014;22:138–46.
- [3] Corbett KS, Katzelnick L, Tissera H, Amerasinghe A, de Silva AD, de Silva AM. Preexisting neutralizing antibody responses distinguish clinically inapparent and apparent dengue virus infections in a Sri Lankan pediatric cohort. J Infect Dis 2015;211:590–9.
- [4] Montoya M, Gresh L, Mercado JC, Williams KL, Vargas MJ, Gutierrez G, et al. Symptomatic versus inapparent outcome in repeat dengue virus infections is influenced by the time interval between infections and study year. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2013;7:e2357.
- [5] Burke DS, Nisalak A, Johnson DE, Scott RM. A prospective study of dengue infections in Bangkok. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1988;38:172–80.
- [6] Graham RR, Juffrie M, Tan R, Hayes CG, Laksono I, Ma'roef C, et al. A prospective seroepidemiologic study on dengue in children four to nine years of age in Yogyakarta, Indonesia I. studies in 1995–1996. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1999;61:412–9.
- [7] Thein S, Aung MM, Shwe TN, Aye M, Zaw A, Aye K, et al. Risk factors in dengue shock syndrome. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1997;56:566–72.
- [8] Guzman MG, Alvarez M, Halstead SB. Secondary infection as a risk factor for dengue hemorrhagic fever/dengue shock syndrome: an historical perspective

and role of antibody-dependent enhancement of infection. Arch Virol 2013;158:1445–59.

- [9] Rothman AL. Immunity to dengue virus: a tale of original antigenic sin and tropical cytokine storms. Nat Rev Immunol 2011;11:532–43.
- [10] L'Azou M, Moureau A, Sarti E, Nealon J, Zambrano B, Wartel TA, et al. Symptomatic Dengue in Children in 10 Asian and Latin American Countries. N Engl J Med 2016;374:1155–66.
- [11] World Health Organization. International travel and health Chapter 6. Vaccine-preventable diseases and vaccines; 2017 update. Online available at: http://www.who.int/ith/en/
- [12] Sanofi Pasteur. Press tool kits Focus on dengue. Available from: http://www. sanofipasteur.com/en/media/press\_tool\_kits/focus\_on\_dengue/ [accessed 26.05.17].
- [13] World Health Organization. Dengue vaccine: WHO position paper July 2016. Wkly Epidemiol Rec 2016;91:349–64.
- [14] Flasche S, Jit M, Rodriguez-Barraquer I, Coudeville L, Recker M, Koelle K, et al. The long-term safety, public health impact, and cost-effectiveness of routine vaccination with a recombinant, live-attenuated dengue vaccine (Dengvaxia): a model comparison study. PLoS Med 2016;13:e1002181.
- [15] Lim JK, Lee YS, Wilder-Smith A, Thiry G, Mahoney R, Yoon IK. Points for consideration for dengue vaccine introduction - recommendations by the dengue vaccine initiative. Expert Rev Vacc 2016;15:529–38.
- [16] Thisyakorn U, Capeding MR, Goh DY, Hadinegoro SR, Ismail Z, Tantawichien T, et al. Preparing for dengue vaccine introduction in ASEAN countries: recommendations from the first ADVA regional workshop. Expert Rev Vacc 2014;13:581–7.
- [17] Torresi J, Tapia-Conyer R, Margolis H. Preparing for dengue vaccine introduction: recommendations from the 1st dengue v2V International Meeting. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2013;7:e2261.
- [18] Live Dengue Vaccines Technical Consultation Reporting G, Bentsi-Enchill AD, Schmitz J, Edelman R, Durbin A, Roehrig JT, et al. Long-term safety assessment of live attenuated tetravalent dengue vaccines: deliberations from a WHO technical consultation. Vaccine 2013;31: 2603–9.
- [19] SAGE Working Group on Dengue Vaccines and WHO Secretariat. Background paper on dengue vaccines. 17 March 2016. Available from: http://www.who. int/immunization/sage/meetings/2016/april/1\_Background\_Paper\_Dengue\_ Vaccines\_2016\_03\_17.pdf [accessed 26.05.17].
- [20] World Health Organization. WHO consultation on targeting vaccination and post-licensure studies for the licensed dengue vaccine. 14–15 June 2016, Chateau des Penthes, Geneva, Switzerland. Available from: http://www.who. int/immunization/research/meetings\_workshops/dengue\_post\_licensure\_ studies\_june16/en/ [accessed 26.05.17].
- [21] Capeding MR, Tran NH, Hadinegoro SR, Ismail HI, Chotpitayasunondh T, Chua MN, et al. Clinical efficacy and safety of a novel tetravalent dengue vaccine in healthy children in Asia: a phase 3, randomised, observer-masked, placebocontrolled trial. Lancet 2014;384:1358–65.
- [22] Villar L, Dayan GH, Arredondo-Garcia JL, Rivera DM, Cunha R, Deseda C, et al. Efficacy of a tetravalent dengue vaccine in children in Latin America. N Engl J Med 2015;372:113–23.

- [23] Hadinegoro SR, Arredondo-Garcia JL, Capeding MR, Deseda C, Chotpitayasunondh T, Dietze R, et al. Efficacy and long-term safety of a dengue vaccine in regions of endemic disease. N Engl J Med 2015;373:1195–206.
- [24] Gailhardou S, Skipetrova A, Dayan GH, Jezorwski J, Saville M, Van der Vliet D, et al. Safety overview of a recombinant live-attenuated tetravalent dengue vaccine: pooled analysis of data from 18 clinical trials. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2016;10:e0004821.
- [25] Halstead SB. Critique of world health organization recommendation of a dengue vaccine. J Infect Dis 2016;214:1793–5.
- [26] Ferguson NM, Rodriguez-Barraquer I, Dorigatti I, Mier YT-RL, Laydon DJ, Cummings DA. Benefits and risks of the Sanofi-Pasteur dengue vaccine: modeling optimal deployment. Science 2016;353:1033–6.
- [27] Henein S, Swanstrom J, Byers AM, Moser JM, Shaik SF, Bonaparte M, et al. Dissecting antibodies induced by a chimeric yellow fever-dengue, liveattenuated, tetravalent dengue vaccine (CYD-TDV) in naive and dengue exposed individuals. J Infect Dis 2016.
- [28] Runge-Ranzinger S, McCall PJ, Kroeger A, Horstick O. Dengue disease surveillance: an updated systematic literature review. Trop Med Int Health 2014;19:1116–60.
- [29] Sarti E, L'Azou M, Mercado M, Kuri P, Siqueira Jr JB, Solis E, et al. A comparative study on active and passive epidemiological surveillance for dengue in five countries of Latin America. Int J Infect Dis 2016;44:44–9.
- [30] Guzman MG, Kouri G, Valdes L, Bravo J, Vazquez S, Halstead SB. Enhanced severity of secondary dengue-2 infections: death rates in 1981 and 1997 Cuban outbreaks. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2002;11:223–7.
- [31] Usme-Ciro JA, Mendez JA, Laiton KD, Paez A. The relevance of dengue virus genotypes surveillance at country level before vaccine approval. Hum Vacc Immunother 2014;10:2674–8.
- [32] Higgs S, Vanlandingham DL, Klingler KA, McElroy KL, McGee CE, Harrington L, et al. Growth characteristics of ChimeriVax-Den vaccine viruses in Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus from Thailand. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2006;75:986–93.
- [33] McGee CE, Tsetsarkin K, Vanlandingham DL, McElroy KL, Lang J, Guy B, et al. Substitution of wild-type yellow fever Asibi sequences for 17D vaccine sequences in ChimeriVax-dengue 4 does not enhance infection of Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. J Infect Dis 2008;197:686–92.
- [34] Jackson ML, Nelson JC. The test-negative design for estimating influenza vaccine effectiveness. Vaccine 2013;31:2165–8.
- [35] Sullivan SG, Tchetgen Tchetgen EJ, Cowling BJ. Theoretical Basis of the Test-Negative Study Design for Assessment of Influenza Vaccine Effectiveness. Am J Epidemiol 2016;184:345–53.
- [36] Schwartz LM, Halloran ME, Rowhani-Rahbar A, Neuzil KM, Victor JC. Rotavirus vaccine effectiveness in low-income settings: An evaluation of the testnegative design. Vaccine 2017;35:184–90.